6

 ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Orangeburg County  
Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

**RECEIVED**  
APR 27 2017  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RODSHEEN AYER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2015-002416

\_\_\_\_\_  
FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the police violate Appellant's reasonable expectation of privacy in his hospital room pursuant to the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution by entering his room without a warrant and taking a photograph of him while he was sleeping following surgery to repair injuries caused by a gunshot wound?
- II. Did the police violate Appellant's right to privacy in his hospital room pursuant to the South Carolina Constitution by entering his room without a warrant and taking a photograph of him while he was sleeping following surgery to repair injuries caused by a gunshot wound?
- III. Did the trial judge err in permitting two officers to testify to hearsay made by numerous individuals where the testimony was offered for the truth of the matter asserted and did not fall within any exception, including the "investigative exception" cited by the state?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Orangeburg County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder and two counts of attempted murder. R. 11, ll. 12-13; R. 669-670. Appellant's co-defendant, Terrance Johnson, was indicted for the same charges arising out of the same set of facts and circumstances. R. 11, ll. 9-11. The state, represented by Don Sorenson and Ashley Cornwell, called the case for trial on November 16-19, 2015, before the Honorable Maite Murphy and a jury. R. 1.<sup>1</sup> Breen Stevens and Minh Lee Wyman represented Appellant. R. 1. Scott Palmer represented Johnson. R. 1. The jury acquitted Appellant of murder and one count of attempted murder. However, the jury found Appellant guilty of one count of attempted murder. R. 663, ll. 15-24; R. 666, l. 19 – R. 81, l. 2. The jury acquitted Johnson on all three charges. R. 663, l. 25 – R. 664, l. 7; R. 666, ll. 13-21. Judge Murphy sentenced Appellant to thirty years' imprisonment. R. 668, ll. 15-18; R. 671.

On November 20, 2015, Appellant filed and served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

---

<sup>1</sup> The transcript cover lists the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson as the presiding judge. This was a typographical error by the court reporter. The Honorable Maite Murphy presided over the trial.

## ARGUMENT

I. The police violated Appellant's reasonable expectation of privacy in his hospital room pursuant to the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution by entering his room without a warrant and taking a photograph of him while he was sleeping following surgery to repair injuries caused by a gunshot wound.

### **Relevant facts**

Prior to trial, Appellant moved to suppress a photograph taken by the Lexington County Sheriff's Department of Appellant while he was in a hospital room recovering from a gunshot wound. R. 2, l. 23 – R. 3, l. 1. Appellant explained the police entered his hospital room while he was sleeping as a result of medication following surgery and photographed him. R. 3, ll. 2-8.

Here, Judge, law enforcement entered the room. Entered without a warrant. They entered when he was asleep due to the effects of medication, when he was in his most vulnerable state. He was half naked and recovering from a surgical procedure. Now, Judge, no exigent circumstances exist[]. I mean, clearly he's not going anywhere. He's unconscious. He's clearly not armed. He's already stripped by the hospital. If they wanted a photograph all they had to do was post an officer by the door, get a warrant. Yet they did not. However, when we actually look at hospital records, they show[] that they did wait at the hospital door after they'd already [done] this stuff. So clearly they could have done it and yet they chose not to. Instead, the[y] chose to go in and photograph this man asleep in his room.

R. 4, ll. 12-25.

Appellant arrived at the hospital at 10:48 p.m. on September 10. R. 6, ll. 14-19. For several hours, the hospital treated his injuries. R. 6, ll. 19-20. The police arrived at 1:15 a.m. R. 6, ll. 20-21. At 3:01 a.m., the forensics unit arrived and photographed Appellant. R. 6, ll. 23-25. The police reports indicated Appellant was asleep and under the influence of medication. R. 7, ll. 23-24. Appellant "only woke up due to pain because [the police] were swabbing his hands for

GSR while he was asleep in the confines and security of his own hospital room trying to recuperate.” R. 7, l. 25 – R. 8, l. 2.

Appellant argued “that an occupant of a closed hospital room recovering from any procedure whether it’s, you know, repair the surgery on his arm from gunshot wound or whether it’s recovering from childbirth, ... anybody that’s recovering in a closed hospital room with doors and walls has a reasonable right to privacy in their closed room.” R. 3, ll. 9-15. In essence, Appellant argued the Fourth Amendment protection against unreasonable governmental intrusions applied to hospital room settings. R. 3, ll. 15-16; R. 8, ll. 18-23. Appellant likened the hospital setting to the reasonable expectation of privacy an individual has in a public telephone booth. R. 3, l. 22 – R. 4, l. 1. Appellant explained telephone booths typically have clear or opaque walls, indicating the privacy interest would be less than in a hospital room where the walls were solid. R. 4, ll. 1-2. Additionally, Appellant noted the vulnerability of people recuperating in a hospital. R. 4, ll. 2-4. Appellant further likened the hospital setting to the reasonable expectation of privacy of an individual in a hotel room. R. 4, ll. 9-11.

The state argued law enforcement was called because “they have got a gunshot victim that shows up at the hospital.” R. 5, ll. 14-17. The police were “in the process of basically investigating a crime at that point in time.” R. 5, ll. 16-18. The solicitor argued Appellant gave “false name,” and “a kind of sketchy description of what happened to him.” R. 5, ll. 21-22. The solicitor continued, “And at that point in time, I mean, they’re in the process of trying to investigate what is going on.” R. 5, ll. 23-24. Again, the state claimed the police were “investigating a crime at that point in time” and did not do “anything improper.” R. 9, ll. 3-5.

In ruling on the motion, the judge explained Appellant never indicated “that he wished to exercise any kind of privacy rights.” R. 15, ll. 20-21. The judge opined that Appellant “freely

spoke” to the police before and after the photograph was taken. R. 15, ll. 21-23. The judge then remarked that because Appellant used his brother’s name – Emanuel Ayer – that Appellant had “no standing to judge to whatever this Emanuel Ayer[] stated was his expectation of privacy.” R. 16, ll. 2-7. As a result, the judge denied the motion to suppress. R. 16, ll. 7-8.

When Appellant made clear that his argument was not that Appellant was not in the photograph, the judge did not alter her ruling. R. 16, ll. 9-16. When the state moved to introduce the photograph, Appellant renewed his prior objection, and the judge overruled the objection. R. 226, ll. 20-24; State’s Exhibit #65.

### **Discussion**

The Fourth Amendment guarantees individuals the right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV. South Carolina’s Constitution guards against unreasonable searches and seizures as well as unreasonable invasions of privacy. S.C. Const. art. I, § 10. “[T]he Fourth Amendment protects people, not places.” Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 351 (1967). Protection under the Fourth Amendment is afforded to those who have a legitimate expectation of privacy in the place searched. Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 143 (1978). To demonstrate an expectation of privacy, the defendant must show he had a subjective expectation of not being discovered and the expectation was one that society recognized as reasonable. Oliver v. United States, 466 U.S. 170, 177 (1984).

The essence of the Fourth Amendment is to protect a person’s right to be free from unreasonable government intrusions in his own home. Kyllo v. United States, 533 U.S. 27, 31 (2001). The Fourth Amendment is a personal right and an individual must invoke its protections. Minnesota v. Carter, 525 U.S. 83, 88 (1998).

[I]n order to claim the protection of the Fourth amendment, a defendant must demonstrate that he personally has an expectation of privacy in the place searched,

and that his expectation is reasonable; i.e., one that has ‘a source outside of the Fourth Amendment, either by reference to concepts of real or personal property law or to understandings that are recognized and permitted by society.’

Id. (quoting Rakas, 439 U.S. at 143-144, and n.12). The contours of the Fourth Amendment’s protections depend upon “whether the person who claims the protection of the Amendment has a legitimate expectation of privacy in the invaded place.” Katz, 389 U.S. at 351; Rakas, 439 U.S. at 143. A subjective expectation of privacy is legitimate if it is “one that society is prepared to recognize as reasonable.” Rakas, 439 U.S. at 143-144.

Appellant is unaware of any case from the United States Supreme Court or the South Carolina Supreme Court addressing one’s expectation of privacy in a hospital room. Nevertheless, the body of law that has developed regarding overnight guests in the United States Supreme Court and in the South Carolina Supreme Court provides persuasive authority that a reasonable expectation of privacy exists in a hospital room. Additionally, the body of law that has developed in other states regarding an expectation of privacy by social guests also provides persuasive authority that a reasonable expectation of privacy exists in a hospital room. Finally, other states have concluded that individuals have a reasonable expectation of privacy in hospital rooms, and those cases provide persuasive authority that a reasonable expectation of privacy exists in a hospital room under the Fourth Amendment.

In Minnesota v. Olson, 495 U.S. 91, 94 (1990), the United States Supreme Court held that an overnight guest had a reasonable expectation of privacy in another’s home. Olson’s status as an overnight guest was enough to show he had a legitimate expectation of privacy that society recognized as reasonable. Id. at 96. Therefore, Olson was permitted to challenge the search. Id. at 100.

To hold that an overnight guest has a legitimate expectation of privacy in his hosts’ home merely recognizes the everyday expectations of privacy that we all share.

Staying overnight in another's home is a longstanding social custom that serves functions recognized as valuable by society. We stay in others' homes when we travel to a strange city for business or pleasure, when we visit our parents, children, or more distant relatives out of town, when we are in between jobs or homes, or when we house-sit for a friend. We will all be hosts and we will all be guests many times in our lives. From either perspective, we think that society recognizes that a houseguest has a legitimate expectation of privacy in his host's home.

Id. at 98. The fact that "the guest has a host who has ultimate control of the house is not inconsistent with the guest having a legitimate expectation of privacy." Id. at 99. Guests "are entitled to a legitimate expectation of privacy despite the fact that they have no legal interest in the premises and do not have the legal authority to determine who may or may not enter the household." Id.

The South Carolina Supreme Court found an individual had a reasonable expectation of privacy in an apartment where he was a guest. State v. Missouri, 361 S.C. 107, 603 S.E.2d 594 (2004). The Court was persuaded that Missouri expected privacy in the apartment of his "good friend," with whom he had grown up and frequently visited. In the past, Missouri had spent the night occasionally. Missouri explained he felt comfort at the apartment. He had a key and kept a change of clothes there. He was present in the apartment as a social guest and had been there for at least seven hours prior to the execution of the search. Id. at 115, 603 S.E.2d at 597. The Court held "[b]y choosing to share the privacy of their home with [defendant] on several occasions in the past and on the occasion in question, both the [homeowners] and [defendant] demonstrated a subjective expectation of privacy, and that expectation, we hold is one that society is prepared to recognize as reasonable." Id. at 115, 603 S.E.2d at 597-598. In Kolle v. State, 386 S.C. 578, 590, 690 S.E.2d 73,79 (2010), this Court re-affirmed its holding in Missouri, supra, that an overnight guest has a reasonable expectation of privacy and is afforded protections pursuant to the Fourth Amendment as a result.

However, in Carter, supra, the United States Supreme Court found defendants who were not overnight guests and were in the home for a few short hours for a business transaction had no reasonable expectation of privacy. Carter, 525 U.S. at 90. Citing O'Connor v. Ortega, 480 U.S. 709 (1987) to recognize that property used for commercial purposes is treated differently for Fourth Amendment purposes and that in some circumstances a worker can claim Fourth Amendment protection over his workplace, the Court found no indication the defendants had “nearly as significant a connection to [the home searched] as the worker in O'Connor had to his own private office.” Id. The Court then discussed the continuum of privacy rights for individuals in others’ homes explaining that an overnight guest “typif[ies] those who may claim the protection of the Fourth Amendment in the home of another, and one merely ‘legitimately on the premises’ [typifies] those who may not do so.” Id. at 91. The Court determined the case before it was “obviously somewhere in between.” Due to the “purely commercial nature of the transaction engaged in here, the relatively short period of time on the premises, and the lack of any previous connection between [the defendants] and the householder,” the Court held the “situation is closer to that of one simply permitted on the premises.” Id.

In his concurrence in Carter, Justice Kennedy wrote that in his view “almost all social guests have a legitimate expectation of privacy, and hence protection against unreasonable searches, in their host’s home.” Carter, 525, U.S. at 99 (Kennedy, J. concurring). According to Kennedy, “Fourth Amendment rights are personal, and when a person objects to the search of a place and invokes the exclusionary rule, he or she must have the requisite connection to that place.” Id. This “requisite connection is an expectation of privacy that society recognizes as reasonable.” Id. at 101. Kennedy explained that “application of that rule involves consideration of the kind of place in which the individual claims the privacy interest and what expectations of privacy are traditional and

well recognized.” Id. Thus, “most, if not all, social guests legitimately expect that, in accordance with social custom, the homeowner will exercise her discretion to include or exclude others for the guests’ benefit.” Id. “[A]s a general rule, social guests will have an expectation of privacy in their host’s home.” Id. at 102.

Although five justices held the defendants, who were in the apartment of another for a short time and solely for the purpose of packaging cocaine did not have a legitimate expectation of privacy in the apartment, four justices concluded the defendants were protected by the Fourth Amendment. Carter, 525 U.S. at 103 (1998)(Breyer, J. concurring); Id. at 106-107 (Ginsburg, J. dissenting)(stating that “when a homeowner or lessee personally invites a guest into her home to share in a common endeavor, whether it be for conversation, to engage in leisure activities, or for business purposes licit or illicit, that guest should share his host’s shelter against unreasonable searches and seizures”). In light of Justice Kennedy’s concurrence that almost all social guests have a legitimate expectation of privacy in their host’s home, it appears that at least five justices of the United States Supreme Court would hold that all social guests are protected by the Fourth Amendment with the only quibble being what defines a social guest.

Following the reasoning of the Supreme Court, several courts throughout the United States have concluded that individuals who were guests, even if not overnight guests, in a person’s home had a reasonable expectation of privacy. United States v. Gray, 491 F.3d 138, 144-146 (4th Cir. 2007) (detailing the distinctions between business and social guests for purposes of Fourth Amendment protections); United States v. Paradis, 351 F.3d 21, 27 (1st Cir. 2003) (finding Paradis was entitled to Fourth Amendment protection in his girlfriend’s home because Paradis lived there when the two were not fighting and he kept possessions there); United States v. Rhiger, 315 F.3d 1283, 1286-1287 (10th Cir. 2003) (holding that a social guest has a sufficient expectation of privacy

to challenge unreasonable searches of his host's home); United States v. Fields, 113 F.3d 313, 320-321 (2d Cir. 1997) (holding Fields had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the place searched where he had a key, paid the owner weekly to use the apartment, had used the apartment forty or fifty times, could bring guests, and could come and go as he pleased with minor restrictions despite the fact that Fields did not sleep at the place and used it for illegal activity); Bonner v. Anderson, 81 F.3d 472, 475 (4th Cir. 1996) (holding that Bonner, who was not an overnight guest, had an expectation of privacy in the home of a neighbor because Bonner was a frequent visitor who ran errands for her elderly neighbor); United States v. Foster, 654 F.Supp.2d 389, 395 (E.D.N.C. 2009) (holding the defendant had standing to challenge the search of his fiancé's apartment where the record suggested that he had moved into the apartment or was, at a minimum, a frequent visitor); Nieves v. New York City Police Dept., 716 F.Supp.2d 299, 307 (S.D.N.Y. 2010) (finding Nieves had a legitimate expectation of privacy in his friend's apartment where Nieves had been friends with the owner for several years, spent the night in the apartment about five times a month, had a key to the apartment, kept personal items there, and was the sole occupant when the police arrived to search); State v. Cuntapay, 85 P.3d 634, 641-642 (Hawai'i 2004) (holding that a guest had a reasonable expectation of privacy in his friend's home where the guest visited once or twice a week to play cards and darts under the state's constitution); In re Welfare of B.R.K., 658 N.W.2d 565, 578 (Minn. 2003) (holding that a juvenile remaining at the home of another minor after a party without adult supervision or authorization – a short term social guest – had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the other minor's home and was afforded the Fourth Amendment's protections); State v. Tullous, 692 N.W.2d 790, 794 (S.D. 2005) (holding that the defendant had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the home of another where the defendant was a regular social guest at the home, who occasionally babysat for the homeowner and knew the location of the hidden key); State

v. Trecroci, 630 N.W.2d 555, 569-570 (Wis. Ct. App. 2001) (holding that a defendant had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the attic space of her fiancée's apartment building even though the attic was not used as an attic and the defendant was not an overnight guest).

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