STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2015-002416

THE STATE, .....RESPONDENT,

v.

RODSHEEN AYER, .....APPELLANT.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-3922

DAVID PASCOE  
Solicitor, First Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1525  
Orangeburg, SC 29116  
(803) 533-6252

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The trial court properly admitted a photograph of Appellant in his hospital room where the officers, who were collecting the destructible gunshot residue evidence at the hospital, took the photograph in conjunction with their investigation of Appellant's reported attack. Moreover, any alleged error in admitting the photograph was harmless as Appellant did not dispute at trial that he was the person in the hospital room and other photographs of Appellant's injury were submitted into evidence.**

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in admitting the Photograph as it was obtained in contravention of his rights under the Fourth Amendment and South Carolina Constitution. The State disagrees with Appellant's allegations of error. Initially, the State notes Appellant fails to demonstrate the admission of the Photograph created any prejudice, harmless or otherwise, for Appellant: (1) Appellant fails to argue the admission of the Photograph impacted his ultimate conviction; and (2) Appellant conceded at trial he was the man in the Photograph; and (3) similar photographs of Appellant were admitted during trial, without objection.

Moreover, the officers' actions did not violate the Fourth Amendment or S.C. Const. art. I, § 10, because they did not act unreasonably in obtaining the Photograph: (1) Appellant, based on the circumstances of the case, did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in his hospital room; (2) even if Appellant had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the situation, the exigencies of the situation justified their presence in the room and once in the room, the plain view doctrine justified their observation and photographing of his injury.

#### **Prejudice and Cumulative Evidence**

Initially, the State notes Appellant's privacy violation claims are without merit as he, both at trial and in his brief, cannot state how he was prejudiced by the admission of the Photograph.

When the trial judge pressed trial counsel on the issue, the latter could only respond "it's a question of whether they can take [Appellant's] picture when he's clothed or not." Admittedly, Appellant is shirtless in the Photograph (although most of his chest is covered by his arm sling), but Appellant fails to even allege admission of the Photograph unfairly prejudiced his conviction. In fact, trial counsel conceded Appellant was the man in the Photograph. Moreover: (1) Officer Day testified Appellant was the man he interviewed and photographed; and (2) other photographs of Appellant's gunshot wound were admitted trial, including Minick's in which Appellant was, again, unconscious with his arm sling displayed prominently on his chest. Accordingly, any alleged error in admitting the Photograph was harmless as it was cumulative to the undisputed evidence presented at trial. See, e.g., State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 507, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993) (any error in admission of evidence cumulative to other un-objected to evidence is harmless).

#### **Fourth Amendment Privacy Rights**

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). In Fourth Amendment search and seizure cases, the appellate court reviews the circuit court judge's determinations under a clear error standard and will affirm the circuit court judge's determinations if they are supported by any evidence. State v. Provet, 405 S.C. 101, 107, 747 S.E.2d 453, 456 (2013); see State v. Brockman, 339 S.C. 57, 66, 528 S.E.2d 661, 666 (2000) ("[W]e will review the trial court's ruling like any other factual finding and reverse if there is clear error. We will affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling."). However, the appellate court is **not** barred from conducting its own review of the record to determine whether the circuit court judge's decision in a search and seizure case is supported by the evidence. State v. Cheeks, 400 S.C. 329, 334, 733 S.E.2d 611, 614 (Ct. App.

2012); see Narcisco v. State, 397 S.C. 24, 28, 723 S.E.2d 369, 371 (2012) ("[T]his Court is not barred from conducting its own review of the record to determine whether the trial judge's decision is supported by the evidence.").

The Fourth Amendment prohibits unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV. When an unreasonable search or seizure occurs, any evidence seized as the result of that unconstitutional action generally must be suppressed and excluded from trial pursuant to the exclusionary rule, a judicially-created remedy designed to serve as a deterrent sanction against unconstitutional conduct. State v. Weaver, 374 S.C. 313, 319, 649 S.E.2d 479, 482 (2007); see State v. Brown, 401 S.C. 82, 88, 736 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2012) ("The Fourth Amendment itself provides no remedy for a violation of the warrant requirement.") It is the burden of the party requesting the suppression of evidence to establish her own Fourth Amendment rights were violated by the challenged search or seizure by demonstrating she had an expectation of privacy in the area illegally searched. Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 130 (1978).

The United States Supreme Court has fashioned a judicially-created remedy, the exclusionary rule, which is a deterrent sanction by which the prosecution is barred from introducing evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment." (citation omitted)). Importantly though, the exclusion of evidence following an unconstitutional search "is 'not a personal constitutional right,' nor is it designed to redress the injury occasioned by an unconstitutional search." Davis v. United States, 564 U.S. 229, 236 (2011) (citations omitted). Due to the heavy costs exacted by the exclusion of evidence on both the judicial system and society as a whole, application of the exclusionary rule is only appropriate where the deterrent benefits of the rule outweigh the heavy costs its application would exact. Brown, 401 S.C. at 88,

736 S.E.2d at 266. Recognizing the rule's harsh consequences, the United States Supreme Court stated:

Suppression of evidence, however, has always been our last resort, not our first impulse. The exclusionary rule generates substantial social costs, which sometimes include setting the guilty free and the dangerous at large. We have therefore been cautious against expanding it, and have repeatedly emphasized that the rule's costly toll upon truth-seeking and law enforcement objectives presents a high obstacle for those urging its application. We have rejected indiscriminate application of the rule, and have held it to be applicable only where its remedial objectives are thought most efficaciously served. That is, where its deterrence benefits outweigh its substantial social costs.

Hudson, 514 U.S. at 591 (internal quotations omitted). As a result, judicially-created exceptions to the exclusionary rule have been established, including the good faith exception. Brown, 401 S.C. at 88–89, 736 S.E.2d at 266; see also State v. McKnight, 291 S.C. 110, 113, 352 S.E.2d 471, 473 (1987) ("Exclusion of evidence is not the only means available to insure that warrants are properly issued.").

"However, a warrantless search may nonetheless be proper under the Fourth Amendment if it falls within one of the well-established exceptions to the warrant requirement." Id.; see State v. Brown, 401 S.C. 82, 89, 736 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2012) (recognizing the following exceptions to the warrant requirement: (1) search incident to a lawful arrest, (2) hot pursuit, (3) stop and frisk, (4) automobile exception, (5) the plain view doctrine, (6) consent, and (7) abandonment). "The exigent circumstances doctrine provides an exception to the Fourth Amendment[']s protection against warrantless searches, but only where, from an objective standard, a compelling need for official action and no time to secure a warrant exists." State v. Abdullah, 357 S.C. 344, 351, 592 S.E.2d 344, 348 (Ct.App.2004); see State v. Brown, 289 S.C. 581, 587, 347 S.E.2d 882, 886 (1986) (acknowledging the exigent circumstances doctrine as an exception to the warrant requirement).

Another exigent circumstance is the imminent destruction of evidence. In Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757 (1966), the United States Supreme Court found the exigency created by the dissipation of alcohol in a defendant's blood stream combined with the necessity of securing the scene of an accident justified an officer's decision to obtain a blood draw from a defendant without obtaining a warrant. Noting the test was a common, minimally invasive procedure which was performed in a reasonable manner, the Court found the Constitution "does not forbid the States minor intrusions into an individual's body under stringently limited conditions."

To determine whether a law enforcement officer faced an emergency that justified acting without a warrant, a court must look to the totality of the circumstances. See Brigham City v. Stuart, 47 U.S. 398, 406 (2006). The fact-specific nature of such an inquiry demands a court evaluate each case of alleged exigency based on its own facts. Missouri v. McNeely, 133 S.Ct. 1552, 1559 (2013).

"The relevancy, materiality, and admissibility of photographs as evidence are matters left to the sound discretion of the trial court." State v. Holder, 382 S.C. 278, 290, 676 S.E.2d 690, 697 (2009) (quoting State v. Nance, 320 S.C. 501, 508, 466 S.E.2d 349, 353 (1996)). "A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice." State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 177, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995) (emphasis added). Admitting photographs which serve to corroborate testimony is not an abuse of discretion. State v. Martucci, 380 S.C. 232, 250, 669 S.E.2d 598, 607 (Ct. App. 2008).

Appellant argues he had a reasonable expectation of privacy in his hospital room under the Fourth Amendment. Admitting that South Carolina courts have not ruled on such arguments, he relies on cases from other jurisdictions to support his assertions. In each of the three cited

opinions, however, the ruling courts found the defendants had only a limited expectation of privacy in this setting. In State v. Stott, 794 A.2d 120 (N.J. 2002), the Supreme Court of New Jersey found a patient involved in an extended stay at a psychiatric hospital did have some degree of privacy rights in his room. However, it cautioned that the determination of such rights should be determined by "the facts and circumstances of a given case," particularly the length of a patient's stay because "a patient admitted for long-term care may enjoy a greater expectation of privacy than one rushed to an emergency room and released that same day."<sup>3</sup> Id. at 127–28. In Jones v. State, 648 So.2d 669 (Fla. 1994), the Florida Supreme Court similarly found the defendant had some privacy rights in his room as it was not a "public place," but he "did not have the heightened expectation of privacy in his hospital room that he would have had in his home." Id. at 676–77. In Morris v. Commonwealth, 157 S.E.2d 191 (Va. 1967), the Supreme Court of Virginia found officers violated a defendant's privacy rights when they requested, and obtained, his clothes from hospital personnel without first obtaining a search warrant and without any exigencies justifying their request. Said clothes were located in the wardrobe in the defendant's hospital room. Id. at 333–34.

Notably, these three cases do not support Appellant's sweeping assertion that patients have the same expectation of privacy in their hospital rooms as their homes. Stott and Jones both involved the propriety of officers seizing defendants' clothes from their hospital rooms; neither court found the officers' presence in those hospital rooms violated privacy protections. In Morris, the court did not discuss such issue because officers were not in the defendant's room at

---

<sup>3</sup> In his brief, Appellant contends the Supreme Court of New Jersey stated "the patient may at least restrict the access of visitors or non-medical personnel" so as to "control the degree of privacy within the room." However, the quoted language was not a finding of the court; rather, the cited language came from a block quote cited only to support the general proposition that hospital patients do have some privacy interests in their private rooms. See Stott, 794 A.2d at 127 (quoting Michael T. Flannery, *First, Do No Harm: The Use of Covert Video Surveillance to Detect Munchausen Syndrome by Proxy An Unethical—Means of "Preventing" Child Abuse*, 32 *U. Mich. J.L. Reform* 105, 155–56 (1998)).

the time of the seizure, nor was there any discussion whether officers could have visited his room and interviewed him without a warrant.

In fact, the Supreme Court of Virginia explicitly recognized the limits of Morris in Craft v. Commonwealth, 269 S.E.2d 797 (Va. 1980). In Craft, officers were investigating an attempted robbery in which witnesses reported the perpetrator was shot and went to the hospital in search of information, not to search the defendant or seize his belongings. After arriving at the hospital and asking the staff whether anyone with such an injury was admitted, the emergency room doctor provided officers with the defendant's clothing, including a flowered shirt with two bullet holes, along with the bullet removed from the defendant. The Craft court found the clothing and bullet removed from the defendant were properly admitted, because: (1) a witness told officers he shot the assailant twice in the stomach and the latter's shirt was "flowered," and defendant's shirt matched the description; (2) the hospital had lawful custody of defendant's clothes and the bullet because the medical treatment of the defendant necessitated the removal of his clothes and the bullet by hospital personnel; thus, it was not an impermissible search and seizure by law enforcement, but rather "good medical practice" by the attending staff; and (3) the officers' presence at the hospital was not an improper search because they went to the hospital to investigate a reported crime. Id. at 797–801.

Appellant also fails to note the Fourth Circuit United States Court of Appeals has examined this issue in U.S. v. Davis, 690 F.3d 226 (4th Cir. 2012). In Davis, officers were able to identify one of the two suspects in a murder, the named defendant, after submitting DNA found on crime scene items to a local DNA database which led to a "cold hit." Id. at 229. The DNA profile was in the database Davis had gone to the hospital after receiving a gunshot wound to his leg approximately four years prior to the murder. After providing employees with a false

name and false driver's license, he informed hospital personnel he had been shot by a purported robber. Hospital personnel called the police, as required by Maryland law, and officers went to the hospital to meet with Davis and investigate the reported crime. Before leaving, Officer King grabbed Davis's pants and boxer short, which had been removed and placed in a plastic bag by hospital employees. Notably, the officers observed Davis's gunshot wound and secured the clothing as evidence to be used in the prosecution of the purported robber. Id. at 230.

During the course of their investigation, officers discovered marijuana in the vehicle in which Davis had arrived at the hospital along with several other potentially incriminating items which led to his arrest on drug charges upon his release from the hospital. No one was ever charged in the shooting of Davis, and he was never informed that officers were no longer pursuing the robbery investigation. Officers retained the pants and boxer shorts, and later used them to generate the DNA profile for Davis which officers found on the DNA database. Id. at 230–31.

The court found the officer did not violate Davis's Fourth Amendment rights by seizing the clothing. Specifically, the court found the seizure was justified by the plain view doctrine because: (1) Davis conceded Officer King was lawfully in his hospital room investigating the crime he reported; (2) Officer King viewed the bag of clothing while lawfully present in the hospital room; (3) the officer knew defendant's clothes were in the seized bag due to his direct observations and knowledge of hospital policy regarding the storage of patients' personal effects; and (4) the "incriminating character" of the clothes was apparent to officers because it was "clear evidence" the shooting occurred that also had a reasonable probability of providing officers with scientific evidence regarding the details of the attack. When explaining this last point, the court

noted there was no authority requiring that evidence seized pursuant to the plain view doctrine be "incriminating against the person from whom it is seized." Id. at 233–38.

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